## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# Case No. SC 10-2206

### (L. C. Case No. 16-2000-CF-8117-AXXMA)

# **RICHARD McCOY**,

### **Appellant, Defendant Below,**

vs.

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

# **Appellee, Plaintiff Below.**

On Direct Appeal From An October 19, 2010, Final Order Denying Defendant's Motions For Post Conviction Relief Rendered By The Circuit Court for the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida, in a Capital Case.

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

David W. Collins, Esq. 310 North Jefferson Street Monticello, FL 32344 Tel: 850.997.8111 FX: 850.997.5852 Florida Bar No. 475289 Court Appointed Registry Counsel For Appellant, Richard McCoy

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a collateral appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida of an October 19, 2010, final "Order Denying Defendant's Motions for Post Conviction Relief" (R6/1051-1097) rendered by the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida.

Appellant Richard McCoy was the defendant in the circuit court. He will be referred to as "Mr. McCoy" or as "the defendant." Appellee, the State of Florida, was the plaintiff in the circuit court and will be referred to here as "the state."

The record on appeal in the post conviction proceedings is in nine bound volumes. Each bound volume is numbered with a roman numeral. The clerk of the circuit court has placed a page number at the bottom of each page. Therefore, the record will be referred to by the letter "R," followed by an appropriate volume and page number.

When referring to the record on appeal in McCoy's original state court trial, the trial transcript will be referred to by the letters "TT," followed by an appropriate page number. The record on appeal in that case will be referred to by the letters "ROA," followed by an appropriate volume and page number. When emphasis is supplied it is duly noted.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

### A. Nature of the Case:

This is a collateral appeal to the Supreme Court of Florida of a final Order Denying Defendant's Motions for Post Conviction Relief (R6/1051-1097) filed per the provisions of Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851, rendered by the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida, on October 19, 2010. The Hon. Peter L. Dearing, Circuit Judge, presided and rendered the final order. (R6/1633).

### **B.** Jurisdiction:

The Supreme Court of Florida has jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this appeal because it is, as noted above, a collateral appeal of a final order that denied McCoy's post conviction relief in a capital case. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const. "We have jurisdiction over all death penalty appeals." *Parker v. State*, 873 So. 2d 270, 275, f. 1 (Fla. 2004). This includes jurisdiction of collateral appeals from final orders denying post conviction relief in capital cases. *Parker v. State*, 542 So. 2d 356, 357 (Fla. 1989).

## C. Course of the Proceedings:

Mr. McCoy was indicted by a Duval County Grand Jury on July 13, 2000, for the first-degree murder of store attendant Shervie Ann Elliot

(Count I), armed burglary (Count II) and armed robbery with a firearm (Count III) of the Jacksonville liquor establishment where she was working. (R1/2, 5). The date of the alleged offenses was June 13, 2000. (R1/2). Mr. McCoy's lead counsel at trial was Alan Chipperfield, Esq. (R6/990).

On May 25, 2001, after a guilt/innocence phase jury trial during which Mr. McCoy testified in his own defense, he was found guilty of firstdegree murder as to Count I and armed robbery as to Count II. (R1/6; R6/1052). That was followed by a penalty phase trial held per the provisions of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes (2000). At the conclusion of that part of the trial, the jury recommended death by a vote of 7-5. After a *Spencer*<sup>1</sup> hearing, Judge Dearing sentenced Mr. McCoy to death for the murder and life in prison for the armed robbery. (R1/8; R6/1052). (The aggravating and mitigating circumstances considered by the trial court are referenced in the Supreme Court opinion quoted below.) A direct appeal of the judgments of conviction and sentences, including the death sentence, to this court followed.

On direct appeal of the judgments and sentences, Mr. McCoy raised seven issues: The trial court erred in (1) admitting the audiotape conversation between Mr. McCoy and Zsa Zsa Marcel into evidence; (2)

Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

permitting the jury to view a transcript of the alleged conversation between the defendant and Zsa Zsa Marcel; (3) denying Mr. McCoy's motions for judgment of acquittal made at the close of the state's case as well as at the close of the evidence; (4) allowing Ms. Marcel to testify; (5) restricting the cross-examination of Ms. Marcel, (6) finding that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner; and (7) ruling that the Florida death penalty is constitutional. (R1/10).

This Court affirmed Mr. McCoy's judgments of conviction and death sentence on August 21, 2003. *McCoy v. State*, 852 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 2003). *See* full Opinion at R1/2-28. The mandate was issued on September 11, 2003.

After registry counsel was appointed, a series of motions to vacate Mr. McCoy's judgments and sentences per Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.850 and 3.851, each containing a host of collateral, post conviction issues, were filed on his behalf. Several of the motions were filed by Mr. McCoy himself.<sup>2</sup> (*See* for example, R1/82-121; R2/189-300; R2/368-396); R3/400-517; R3/525-598; R4/599-649; R4/679-735; R4/738-781; R5/787-841; R5/908-910). The first Rule 3.850 motion was filed on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court determined that Mr. McCoy's pro se motions were inappropriate since he was represented by counsel; thus those motions were stricken. (R6/1051, f. 1).

June 23, 2004. (R1/82-121; R5/859).

Ultimately, the undersigned (David W. Collins, Esq.) was retained by Mr. McCoy and on April 20, 2006, he submitted a sworn Second Amended Initial Motion for Post-Conviction Relief (R5/787-842) containing some 20 claims. This is the instrument relied upon by Mr. McCoy and his counsel in terms of seeking post conviction relief and is the pleading addressed by the court and the attorney general as the post conviction case went forward to final disposition. On June 21, 2006, the attorney general filed a detailed response to Mr. McCoy's April 20, 2006, second amended motion. (R5/843-R6/905).

On July 31, 2006, Mr. McCoy filed a Supplemental Sworn Addendum to 3.851 Motion for Post Conviction Relief. (R5/908-910). On August 30, 2006, the attorney general filed a State's Response to Supplemental 3.851 Motion. (R5/911-930).

A Huff hearing was held on September 20, 2006. (R7/1338-1382).

An evidentiary hearing on certain of the claims in the Second Amended Initial Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was held on July 23, 2007, before Judge Dearing in Jacksonville with the defendant present. (R9/1431-1633).

# **D. Disposition In the Lower Tribunal:**

On October 19, 2010, Judge Dearing rendered his final "Order

Denying Defendant's Motions for Post Conviction Relief." (R6/1051-1097).

On October 29, 2010, Mr. McCoy filed a notice of appeal to this

court. (R6/1098, 1099).

# **E.** Statement of the Facts:

(i.)

# Statement of the Facts as Found by the Florida Supreme Court Regarding the Original State Court Trial

This Court made the following findings of fact regarding the evidence

presented at Mr. McCoy's state court trial.<sup>3</sup>

On the morning of June 13, 2000, Shervie Ann Elliott was found dead in the storage room of the Jacksonville ABC Liquors store in which she worked, and \$415 was missing from the store's two safes. The evidence adduced at the appellant's trial established that the victim had been shot once in the abdomen, a wound which disabled her; once in the neck, resulting in paralysis; and once in the face, the fatal wound. The store's surveillance tape showed the robbery and murder occurring from 8:20 a.m. to 8:33 a.m. on June 13. The initial investigation of the alcoholic beverage store performed by law enforcement officers and evidence technicians revealed no evidence of a physical struggle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> McCoy does not concede that the facts found by this Court in its per curiam opinion regarding the direct appeal of the judgments and sentences, including the death sentence, were necessarily correct, in large measure because the record was not complete due to the ineffectiveness of his trial counsel.

Both circumstantial and direct evidence linked the appellant to the crime scene. Three latent fingerprints found on an ABC Liquors cash and receipt pouch within the non-public store office were matched to McCoy. While the latent fingerprint examiner could not form any conclusions regarding when the fingerprints were deposited on the pouch, ABC Liquors employees testified that the money pouches were kept within the store office at all times, and only store managers were involved with the pouches. Additionally, the store surveillance camera revealed that an African-American male had committed the robbery and murder.

On June 19, ABC Liquors advertised a \$10,000 reward for information leading to the arrest and conviction of the person who had robbed and murdered Elliott. The following day, Zsa Zsa Marcel contacted ABC Liquors and spoke with Teresa Johnson, the ABC Liquors regional manager for the Jacksonville area. Johnson directed Marcel to Dale Galbreath, the detective leading the Sheriff's Office investigation of the robbery and murder. She related to Galbreath that on June 14, her boyfriend, Richard McCoy, had told her that he had been involved in the armed robbery of an ABC Liquors store in which a woman was killed. He had detailed to Marcel the manner in which he and his accomplice "rushed" the manager of the store as she opened the back door, forced her to turn off the alarm and video surveillance equipment, and made Elliott open the store's safes. Additionally, McCoy had told Marcel that the inside of the store was very dimly lit at the time of the robbery, his accomplice had actually shot the store manager, and he and his partner had netted \$4,000 from the venture.

Following her discussion with Galbreath, Marcel agreed to initiate a conversation with McCoy regarding the ABC Liquors robbery while wearing a recording device attached to her purse. Subsequently, she listened to the tape recording of her conversation with McCoy, agreed that it was a fair and accurate depiction of their discussion that afternoon, and helped the State prepare a transcript of the conversation. On July 13, 2000, McCoy was indicted by a Duval County grand jury on charges of first-degree murder, armed burglary, and armed

## robbery.

In addition to the testimony of Marcel, the ABC Liquors employees, and law enforcement officers related above, McCoy's trial jury heard testimony during the guilt phase from the medical examiner, detailing the succession of the gunshot injuries sustained by Elliott, as well as her conclusion that the second and third gunshots fired by Elliott's attacker had been fired from a distance of between six and twelve inches from the victim's body.

Following the trial court's denial of McCoy's motion for judgment of acquittal, the defense presented evidence in support of the appellant's claim that he was at the home of his girlfriend, Dorothy Small, on the morning of June 13, 2000. Sherry Cross, Small's neighbor and a Raven Transport longhaul truck driver, testified that she had spoken with McCoy for approximately five minutes outside her home on the morning of the thirteenth between 8:00 a.m. and 8:30 a.m. On cross examination, however, she admitted that she was estimating, and that the conversation could have taken place either after 8:30 a.m., or before 8 a.m. Cross's testimony was supported by the testimony of the Raven Transport Director of Safety, William Weise, who testified that the company's satellite positioning system showed that Cross was in Jacksonville on the morning of June 13. Additionally, the defense presented the testimony of Dorothy Small, who related that after spending the night at her house, McCoy had left her home early on the morning of the 13th of June, and John Bailey, a Krystal Burger employee who testified that McCoy ate breakfast at his restaurant nearly every morning. Bailey could not, however, remember whether McCoy ate breakfast at Krystal Burger on the morning of June 13. The defense then called Clarence Williams, the father of a child with Zsa Zsa Marcel, who testified that Marcel had a reputation for dishonesty in their Louisiana community.

Finally, McCoy testified in his own defense. He testified that on the morning of June 13, 2000, he left Small's house at 6:45 a.m. and went home. He returned to Small's house at around 8 a.m. to take trash to the curb, and spoke with Cross at that time. After completion of this chore, McCoy went to Krystal Burger, ate breakfast, and then proceeded to an interview. He and Marcel had a relationship, and he knew that she was "tough"she had confessed to him that she robbed a restaurant on June 10. McCoy testified that, therefore, he lied to her and claimed that he had robbed ABC Liquors, in an effort to impress her. He explained that his fingerprints were on the ABC Liquors receipt pouch because he had once found one of the pouches in another ABC store parking lot, and mailed it to ABC Liquors headquarters in Orlando.

In rebuttal, the State presented the testimony of Mark Bachara, a Jacksonville Sheriff's Office investigator assigned to the Office of the State Attorney, who stated that it takes six minutes to drive from Dorothy Small's home to the ABC Liquors store that was robbed on June 13, 2000. Following a renewed motion for judgment of acquittal, closing argument, and jury instruction, the jury found McCoy guilty of premeditated firstdegree murder. Additionally, the jury specifically found that "the killing was done during the commission or attempted commission of a robbery."

The State's presentation during the penalty phase consisted of the introduction of judgments and sentences detailing McCoy's prior convictions for three counts of armed robbery and one count of attempted armed robbery. Additionally, the State elicited testimony from Richard Hughes, McCoy's probation supervisor, to establish that the appellant was being supervised on conditional release at the time of the ABC Liquors robbery. Finally, the victim's sister and the victim's ABC Liquors supervisor testified regarding the impact of the victim's death upon their lives, and a statement written by the victim's son was read to the jury.

The defense presented the testimony of McCoy's mother and sisters, who detailed for the jury the troubled home life to which McCoy was exposed, physical abuse, inter-parental violence, and nearly abject poverty. Paul Gillians, Diane Peterson, and Trina Rivers testified regarding McCoy's respectful and caring nature, as well as instances in which he had performed good deeds, including his saving Paul Gillians from being burned to death. McCoy waived his right to testify during the penalty phase, and, following instruction and deliberation, the jury recommended imposition of the death penalty by a vote of seven to five.

The court held a subsequent *Spencer* hearing, and followed the jury's recommendation, concluding that "on balance, the aggravating circumstances in this case far outweigh the mitigating circumstances." The trial court concluded that the following aggravators applied: (1) Prior conviction of felonies involving the use or threat of violence; (2) the appellant was under a sentence of imprisonment or on community control at the time of the commission of the instant murder; (3) the murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (CCP); (4) the murder was committed for financial gain and was committed while engaged in the commission of the crime of armed robbery (aggravators merged); and (5) the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest (merged with CCP aggravator). The court found no statutory mitigators, but determined that twenty mitigating circumstances had been established.<sup>4</sup> Each of the mitigating

<sup>4</sup> The trial court found the following non-statutory mitigators: (1) The defendant suffered an abusive childhood; (2) the defendant suffered an emotionally deprived childhood; (3) the defendant suffered an economically deprived childhood; (4) the defendant's mother had relationships with different abusive and non-abusive males; (5) the defendant suffered from unstable living conditions in his childhood; (6) the defendant's parents' divorce at age ten devastated him; (7) the defendant received poor and inadequate medical care, particularly when he suffered from a high fever; (8) the defendant is a caring son to his mother, providing her food, renting movies for her, and spending time with her; (9) the defendant had a good relationship with his father; (10) the defendant was a caring brother to his sisters, Barbara McCoy and Dorothy McCoy Robertson; (11) the defendant was a caring parent, before his incarceration, to his two sons, Andre (age 17) and Kenny (age 15); (12) as a child, the defendant did poorly in school; (13) as a child, the defendant did not receive the psychological counseling

factors was given "some weight" by the trial court.

(ii.) McCoy v. State, 853 So. 2d at 399-402 (Fla. 2003).

# Statement of the Facts Regarding the Evidentiary Hearing Conducted by Judge Dearing on Mr. McCoy's Second Amended Initial Motion For Post-Conviction Relief.

Diana Peterson was called as Mr. McCoy's first witness at the July 23, 2007, evidentiary hearing. Peterson identified herself as a very good friend of Mrs. Josey McCoy, the defendant's mother. She had known Mrs. McCoy for about 21 years. (R9/1441). Ms. Peterson testified that on June 14, 2000, she saw Richard McCoy in Josey McCoy's home at about 5:00 to 7:00 p.m. (R9/1443). Ms. Peterson said that Mr. McCoy's demeanor was normal at that time. Ms. Peterson stated that she had shared this information with Mr. McCoy's lawyer, Mr. Chipperfield, before Mr. McCoy's trial. (R9/1444).

recommended by school officials; (14) there is no evidence that the defendant has ever been violent or abusive in his personal relationships with family members or friends; (15) the defendant is a member of the Muslim faith; (16) the defendant successfully held employment as a welder; (17) the defendant performed laudable humanitarian deeds for Paul Gillians, Diane Peterson, and Trina Rivers; (18) the defendant demonstrated good behavior during the trial after the verdict was rendered; (19) for the eleven months that he was on conditional release prior to the commission of this robbery and murder, the defendant apparently did well and complied with the requirements of conditional release; and (20) the defendant would die in prison regardless of the sentence imposed. (R6/1052, 1053).

On cross-examination, Ms. Peterson testified that at the June 14 gathering, the defendant, his mother, his sister, and Ms. Peterson were present. (R9/1446). Ms. Peterson stated that she had shared this information with Mr. Chipperfield. She said that Mr. McCoy drove to the June 14 gathering in his car. She did not know where he was before the gathering or where he went after he left. She stated that Mr. McCoy lived with his father at the time. She did not know if he had a girlfriend during this period of time. (R9/1448).

On redirect examination, Peterson said that she had testified to the above facts before, but she could not recall if she had testified at the trial or at a pretrial hearing. Ms. Peterson said that Dorothy Small was not present on June 14<sup>th</sup> at the gathering at Josey McCoy's residence. (R9/1449).

The second witness was Assistant State Attorney John Guy. He testified that he prosecuted the case against the defendant. He was assisted by Melissa Williamson, Esq. He did not recall any court orders to restrict conversation regarding religious issues. (R9/1451). He reviewed page 228 of volume 8 of the transcript of the original record on direct appeal. He said that the transcript reflects that he had asked the jury to "promise to apply your God-given common sense." (R9/1452). He did not dispute the trial transcript in which Ms. Wiley testified that she and the victim were related

in Christ and were born again Christians. (R9/1454). Mr. Guy added that the body bug audiotape was provided to him before the trial. He had a transcript of the audiotape produced. He then had Ms. Marcel review the transcript to fill in inaudible portions. Mr. Guy did not recall any other persons who listened to the tape. (R9/1455). He agreed that parts of the tape were inaudible. (R9/1456). He was not aware of the defense having employed an expert to determine if inaudible portions of the tape could be enhanced. (R9/1457) He considered Ms. Marcel a cooperating witness for the state. He stated that he had not had any significant contact or discussion with Ms. Marcel within the past year. (R9/1459).

On cross-examination, Mr. Guy acknowledged that before a trial, he generally asks witnesses to provide a written statement, which he then presented to the defense. (R9/1460). He could not clearly recall if he had sent the audiotape to an expert to enhance. (R9/1461).

On redirect examination, Mr. Guy stated that a transcript of the audiotape was prepared and given to Ms. Marcel to review. He did not recall if jurors had any issues about the defendant's religion. (R9/1462).

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