In the Supreme Court of Florida

RICHARD McCOY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-2206

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL, PL-01 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

####

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

## Standard of review

The standard of review is *de novo*. Constitutional challenges to statutes are reviewed *de novo*. *Miller v*. *State*, 42 So.3d 204, 215 (Fla. 2010)(stating "[w]e review a trial court's ruling on the constitutionality of a Florida statute de novo" regarding a Sixth Amendment challenge to Florida's death penalty scheme pursuant to *Apprendi* and *Ring*).

### Procedural bar

This claim is barred by the law of the case doctrine. McCoy raised a *Ring* claim in the direct appeal. This Court rejected the *Ring* claim. *McCoy*, 853 So.2d at 409 (concluding McCoy was not entitled to relief on his *Ring* claim and noting that "a jury unanimously found McCoy guilty of armed robbery here, and it is undisputed that he was

- 59 -

previously convicted of violent felonies and was under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of the instant murder.). This claim is procedurally barred.

### Merits

The Sixth Amendment states:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defence.

The United States Supreme Court in *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002) held that the Sixth Amendment requires that aggravating factors, necessary under Arizona law for imposition of the death penalty, be found by a jury. *Ring* was the application of *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), to capital cases. Arizona's death penalty statute, which was at issue in *Ring*, was judge-only capital sentencing. Florida's death penalty statute, in contrast, as the *Ring* Court itself noted, is a hybrid system involving both a judge and a jury. *Ring*, 536 U.S. at 608, n.6, 122 S.Ct. at 2442, n.6 (noting that Arizona, like Colorado, Idaho, Montana and Nebraska, "commit both capital sentencing factfinding and the ultimate sentencing decision entirely to judges" and noting that four States, Alabama, Delaware, Florida and Indiana, "have hybrid systems, in which the jury renders an advisory verdict but the judge makes the ultimate sentencing determinations."). Florida's scheme is jury plus judge sentencing, not judge only sentencing.

This Court has repeatedly, over the years, rejected *Ring* challenges to Florida's death penalty scheme. As this Court has recently noted: "we have repeatedly rejected constitutional challenges to Florida's death penalty under *Ring*." *Ault v. State*, 53 So.3d 175, 205-206 (Fla. 2010)(rejecting a *Ring* challenge to Florida's death penalty scheme citing *Bottoson v. Moore*, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002), and *King v. Moore*, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla. 2002)); see also *Caylor v. State*, - So.3d -, -, 2011 WL 5082614, 14 (Fla. 2011)(observing that "this Court has repeatedly held that Florida's death penalty does not violate *Ring*.")

Furthermore, *Ring* does not apply to this particular case because both the prior violent felony aggravator and the under-sentence-of-imprisonment aggravator are present. Recidivist aggravators are exempt from the holding in *Ring*. The United States Supreme Court exempted prior convictions from the holding of *Apprendi* v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), explaining that "[o]ther than the fact of a prior conviction, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." The exception announced in *Almendarez-Torres* v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 118 S.Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed.2d 350 (1998), for prior convictions, survived *Apprendi* and *Ring*. Tai A. Pham v. State, 70 So.3d 485, 495-496 (Fla. 2011)(explaining that the express exceptions to Apprendi were unaltered by Ring).<sup>7</sup> This Court has repeatedly rejected Ring claims where the prior violent felony aggravator is present. Marshall v. Crosby, 911 So.2d 1129, 1135 & n.6 (Fla. 2005)(explaining that prior violent felonies are an aggravating

Almendarez-Torres was correctly decided. The Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial is just that - a right to a jury - that is one A defendant is entitled to one jury trial, not two. Frank R. jury. Herrmann, 30=20: "Understanding" Maximum Sentence Enhancements, 46 BUFF. L. REV. 175 (1998) (explaining that recidivism should be exempt from the elements rule because the defendant has already received a full trial and due process for the prior conviction and observing that the prior conviction received "the totality of constitutional protections" which distinguishes the use of prior convictions from other sentence enhancers and concluding that requiring full trial rights for the prior conviction would be "redundant".) Any defendant, who is a recidivist, has already had a jury find the underlying facts of the prior conviction at the highest standard of The judge, in a recidivist situation, is merely taking proof. judicial notice of a prior jury's verdict. With the prior violent felony aggravator which requires a conviction, a prior jury heard the evidence and found McCoy guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of the prior robberies. These prior juries completely satisfies the Sixth Amendment. McCoy is not entitled to two jury trials on his prior convictions.

Furthermore, the vast majority of criminal defendants plead. This means these defendants waived the right to a jury trial. If *Almendarez-Torres* is overruled, a defendant will have resurrected his right to a jury trial that he waived when he pled by the act of committing a second offense. Overruling *Almendarez-Torres* would create the odd result of unwaiver by criminal conduct. Moreover, the prosecution often agrees to a plea to avoid the time and trouble of a trial. For the prosecution to have to prove a crime years after it was committed, with all the attendant problems of lost evidence, missing witnesses and foggy memories, because the defendant committed another crime, seems to be a breach of the original plea agreement. *Almendarez-Torres'* logic is sound.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The continued validity of *Almendarez-Torres* has been questioned by several of the Justices as well as several courts. The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Oregon v. Ice*, 555 U.S. 160, 129 S.Ct. 711, 172 L.Ed.2d 517 (2009), upholding a judge's power to impose consecutive sentences without special findings by the jury, however, shows that *Almendarez-Torres* is alive and well.

circumstance that takes a death sentence outside the scope of *Ring*'s requirements and collecting cases in a footnote); *Evans v. State*, 975 So.2d 1035, 1052-1053 (Fla. 2007)(rejecting a *Ring* claim where the prior violent felony aggravator was present citing *Duest v. State*, 855 So.2d 33, 49 (Fla. 2003)). And this Court has rejected *Ring* claims when the under-sentence-of-imprisonment aggravator is present as well. *Hodges v. State*, 55 So.3d 515, 540 (Fla. 2010)(stating that: "[t]his Court has repeatedly held that *Ring* does not apply to cases where the prior violent felony, the prior capital felony, or the under-sentence-of-imprisonment aggravating factor is applicable); *Smith v. State*, 998 So.2d 516, 529 (Fla. 2008)(stating: "We also have held that the aggravator of murder committed while under sentence of imprisonment may be found by the judge alone.").

McCoy had previously been convicted of three prior robberies and an attempted robbery and was on conditional release at the time of this robbery/murder. *McCoy*, 853 So.2d at 401 (noting that the State, during the penalty phase, introduced "judgments and sentences detailing McCoy's prior convictions for three counts of armed robbery and one count of attempted armed robbery" and noting that the State called Richard Hughes, McCoy's probation supervisor, to establish that the appellant was being supervised on conditional release at the time of the ABC Liquors robbery). Neither of these aggravators are required to be found by the jury under any view of *Ring*.

Moreover, if *Ring* applied and required that the jury find one aggravator, then *Ring* was satisfied in the guilt phase in this particular case. One of the aggravators found by the trial court was

- 63 -

the "during the course of a felony" aggravator. The jury unanimously found McCoy guilty of armed robbery in the guilt phase. The jury convicted McCoy by special verdict form of felony murder with armed robbery being the underlying felony. The jury also convicted McCoy of armed robbery with a firearm and discharging that firearm causing death in count II. Basically, the jury unanimously found this aggravator. Ring was satisfied before the penalty phase even began. As this Court recently reiterated, "Ring is not implicated when the trial court has found as an aggravating circumstance that the crime was committed in the course of a felony." Baker v. State, 71 So.3d 802, 824 (Fla. 2011)(citing McGirth v. State, 48 So.3d 777, 795 (Fla. 2010)(citing Robinson v. State, 865 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 2004)); see also Cave v. State, 899 So.2d 1042, 1052 (Fla. 2005) (rejecting a Ring claim because one of the aggravating circumstances was that the murder was committed in the course of two felonies which was found by the jury during the guilt phase); Belcher v. State, 851 So.2d 678, 685 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting a *Ring* claim and explaining that during a course of a felony aggravator was found by the jury in the guilt phase when the jury convicted the defendant of sexual battery). Ring is not violated in a case where the jury unanimously finds an aggravator in the guilty phase by convicting a defendant of a separate, underlying felony. So, two of the four aggravators found in this case are exempt from Ring and a third aggravator was found by the jury during the guilt phase.

Moreover, the jury recommended death thereby necessarily finding an aggravator. The United States Supreme Court, in *Jones v. United* 

- 64 -

States, 526 U.S. 227, 119 S.Ct. 1215, 143 L.Ed.2d 311 (1999), a case that was a precursor to Apprendi and Ring, explained that Florida's death penalty does not violate the Sixth Amendment. It was a footnote in Jones stating "under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the notice and jury trial guarantees of the Sixth Amendment, any fact (other than prior conviction) that increases the maximum penalty for a crime must be charged in an indictment, submitted to a jury, and proven beyond a reasonable doubt," that essentially became the holding in Apprendi. Jones, 526 U.S. at 243 n.6. The Jones Court explained that if there is a jury recommendation of death, the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial is not violated. The Jones Court explained that in Hildwin, a Florida case, a jury made a sentencing recommendation of death, thus "necessarily engaging in the factfinding required for imposition of a higher sentence, that is, the determination that at least one aggravating factor had been proved." Jones, 526 U.S. at 251, 119 S.Ct. at 1228. See also State v. Steele, 921 So.2d 538, 546 (Fla. 2005)(explaining that a finding of an aggravator "is implicit in a jury's recommendation of a sentence of death" citing *Jones*). A jury in Florida is instructed that they may not recommend death unless they find an aggravator. So, a jury that recommends death has necessarily found at least one aggravator. According to both the United States Supreme Court in Jones and the Florida Supreme Court in Steele, a jury's recommendation of death means the jury found an aggravator which is all Ring requires.

McCoy's jury recommended death by a vote of seven to five. His jury necessarily found at least one aggravator in order to recommend

- 65 -

death. There can be no violation of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial where the defendant had a jury and that jury necessarily found an aggravator.

McCoy's reliance on Evans v. Sec'y, Dep't of Corr., 2:08-cv-14402-JEM (S.D. Fla. June 20, 2011), is misplaced. First, a federal district court is a trial court and, like any other trial court, it's rulings are not binding precedent of any sort. As the United States Supreme Court has explained, a "decision of a federal district court judge is not binding precedent in either a different judicial district, the same judicial district, or even upon the same judge in a different case." *Camreta v. Greene*, - U.S. -, n.7, 131 S.Ct. 2020, 2033, n.7, 179 L.Ed.2d 1118 (2011). One federal district court judge's view certainly does not trump this Court's numerous and repeated holdings, over the last decade, that Florida's death penalty statute does not violate *Ring*.

Furthermore, *Evans* is distinguishable. As the district court in *Evans* itself noted, *Evans* did not involve the prior violent felony aggravator, the under-sentence-of-imprisonment aggravator, or the during-the-course-of-a-felony aggravator, as this case does. *Evans v. Sec'y*, *Dep't of Corr.*, 2:08-cv-14402-JEM at 80, n.25 citing *Coday v. State*, 946 So.2d 988, 1023 (Fla. 2006)(Pariente, J., dissenting on *Ring*). This case involves all three of these aggravators.

And most importantly, *Evans* is incorrectly decided and is due to be reversed by the Eleventh Circuit.<sup>8</sup> There is a special,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Evans is pending on appeal in the Eleventh Circuit. Sec'y, Fla Dep't of Corr., v. Evans, 11-14498-P.

highly-deferential standard of review in federal habeas cases and the district court in *Evans* improperly refused to apply that standard. The Eleventh Circuit is highly likely to reverse on that basis alone. Hill v. Humphrey, 662 F.3d 1335 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011)(reversing a panel decision because the panel refused to apply the required AEDPA deference to the state court). Even under *de novo* review, *Evans* is incorrectly decided because the district court in Evans refused to follow controlling Supreme Court precedent of Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624, 111 S.Ct. 2491, 115 L.Ed.2d 555 (1991), which held that special verdicts are not required. The district court basically joined the dissent in Schad by requiring special verdicts regarding aggravators. District courts are not free to follow the dissent; rather, they must follow the majority opinion. The Eleventh Circuit will follow the majority in Schad. While the district court in Evans found the jury's recommendation to be meaningless, the United States Supreme Court thinks otherwise. In Jones, the United States Supreme Court found a jury recommendation of death to be quite meaningful. This Court should reject the reasoning of *Evans* and follow its long established precedent that Florida's death penalty statute does not violate Ring.

### Harmless error

Furthermore, even if there had been a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, violations of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, including *Ring* claims, are subject to harmless error analysis. *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S.Ct. 1827,

- 67 -

144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999)(finding that error in the judge determining the issue of materiality rather than properly submitting the materiality issue to the was harmless). A rational jury would have found an aggravator. Indeed, a rational jury would have found the exact same aggravators the judge did. A rational jury would have found the during-the-course-of-a-robbery aggravator if asked to complete a special verdict form given that they convicted McCoy of robbery with a firearm in the guilt phase. A rational jury would have also found the prior violent felony aggravator and the

under-sentence-of-imprisonment aggravator if asked to do so. McCoy did not dispute that he had previously been convicted of three armed robberies and one attempted armed robbery in front of his penalty phase jury. Nor did he dispute the under-sentence-of-imprisonment aggravator. Any error was harmless.

The trial court properly denied the *Ring* claim. Accordingly, the trial court's order denying the claims of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing and summarily denying the *Ring* claim should be affirmed.

# CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the trial court's denial of the 3.851 motion following an evidentiary hearing.